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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISRICT OF CALIFORNIA
OAKLAND DIVISION

HOLLYN D’LIL, Case No: C 13-3512 SBA
Plaintiff, ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANT
ERIK PRICE’'S MOTION FOR
VS. SUMMARY JUDGMENT
BREAKERS INN, the dba for LENA Dkt. 49

HUMBER-PRICE; ERIKPRICE and DOES|1
through 10, inclusive,

Defendants.

Plaintiff Hollyn D’Lil, a disabled indivilual, alleges that she encountered access
barriers while visiting the Breakers Inn (“then”), a public guesthouse located in Gualalg
California. She brings the instant action agal.ena Humber-Price (“Lena”) dba Breakel
Inn, and her son, Eric Price (“EriR’} alleging disability discrinmiation claims under Title
[l of the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADAy and state law. Thearties are presently
before the Court on Erik's Mmn for Summary Judgment. Hag read and considered th
papers filed in connection with this matend being fully informed, the Court hereby
GRANTS the motion for the reasons set forth belde Court, in its discretion, finds thig
matter suitable for resolution withoatal argument. _See Fed. ®iv. P. 78(b); N.D. Cal.
Civ. L.R. 7-1(b).

L For clarity, the Court refers to the restive Defendants by their first names.
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l. BACKGROUND

A. FACTUAL SUMMARY

In September 2012, Plaintiff booked a roonth&t Inn. Compl. 6, Dkt. 1. During
her stay, Plaintiff encountered access issudsaparking lot, at # check-in counter and
in her guest room._Id. § 13. Plaintiff sought to write a letter of complaint about the
barriers, and allegedly was told by unspecifie@dnagers” at thenh that Erik was the
“operator.” Pl.’s Opp’n tMot. for Summ. J. (“Opp’n”gat 5, Dkt. 51. During her
deposition, Plaintiff stated, in fact, thelte spoke only one person—a “clerk” or “staff
person”—whose name, age, gender or physippkearance she could not recall. Cortes
Reply Decl. Ex. D (Pl.’s Depo.) at @F-131:18, 134:115, Dkt. 52-2.

Plaintiff brings this action against Lenaddlarik, as owners and/or operators of the
Inn. The Inn was constructed in or about 1993394 by Lena. Price Decl. { 3, Dkt. 49-2.
In 2011, Lena was diagnosed with a serioeslth condition._Id. 6. On November 17,
2011, Lena executed a deed which made Ejoknd tenant in the real property on which
the Innis located._ Id. Heaerded the deed in Ju2012. Id. Erik asserts that Lena did
not actually intend to deliver the deed tohiand that when sHearned that he had
recorded the deed, shekolegal action to invalidate it. Mofor Summ, J. (“Mot.”) at 2-3,
Dkt. 52; Price Decl. | 8.

Lena testified during her deposition inglaction that she had no recollection of
signing a grant deed in favof Erik and was unaware thia¢ was on title to the property
until April of 2012 or2013. Cortes Decl. Ex. A (Humb@rice Depo.) at 82:10-83:9, 89:3]
5,113:7-114:2, Dkt. 49-1. Lena statedttbhe was seriously ill and “unable to think
clearly in November of 2011 A4nd that Erik was constantly “after” her and “yelling and
screaming” at her. Id. at 136:17-20, 89:8-E&entually, in December 2014, Erik and

Lena reached a settlement to héhve 2011 deedeclared invalid. Price Decl. 9. The
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settlement required Erik to exeew quitclaim deed “to diveahy interest that might have
been conveyed thim] by the 2011 deed.” 8.

B. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On July 29, 2013, Rlntiff filed a Complaint in tls Court, which alleges three
claims against Lena and Erik: (1) violatiof Title Il of the ADA; (2) violation of
California Health and Safety Code § 19955%ad., and (3) violation of the California
Unruh Act, Cal. Civ. Cde 8§ 51 et seq. Ergreviously sought t@in the Inn’s current
operators as defendants, satd motion was denied.

Erik now moves for summary judgment o trounds that he is not an owner,

operator or lessee of the Inn. Plaintiff opps the motion, claimindpat Erik has admitted

his ownership interest in the Inn and thatliim®s managers recognize him as its operatof.

The matter is fully briefedral is ripe for adjudicatiof.
Il. LEGAL STANDARD

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56 prdes that a party may move for summary
judgment on some or all of the claims or deésngresented in an action. Fed. R. Civ. P.
56(a)(1). “The court shall grant summary judgrif the movant shows that there is no
genuine dispute as to any material fact amdntiovant is entitled to judgment as a matter

law.” Id.; see Anderson v. Liberty Lobby,dn477 U.S. 242, 247-48 (1986). The movari

bears the initial burden of demonstrating thasis for the main and identifying the
portions of the pleadings, depositions, answeraterrogatories, affidavits, and admissior
on file that establish the absence of a triablecigdumaterial fact._Celotex Corp. v. Catret
477 U.S. 317, 3281986); Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1)(A) (reiring citation to “particular parts

of materials in the record”)If the moving party meets thisitial burden, the burden then

shifts to the non-moving party to present speéacts showing that there is a genuine issl

2 Plaintiff claims that Prie received $100,000 to settle the dispute, see Barbosa
Decl. 1 4, Dkt. 42-1; but provides no fadation for that asséoh. The settlement
agreement has not besmbmitted to the Court.

3 Both parties have filed objections teetbther’s evidence, which are addressed tg
the extent the particular objection is gama to the argument being addressed.
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for trial. See Celotex, 477 U.S. at 324; Mgtsita Elec. Indus. Ce. Zenith Radio Corp.,
475 U.S. 574, 586-87 (1986).

“On a motion for summary judgment, ‘facts must be viewed in the light most
favorable to the nonmoving party only if theraigenuine’ dispute as to those facts.”
Ricci v. DeStefano, 550@.S. 557, 586 (2009) (quoting part Scott v. Harris, 550 U.S. 372

380 (2007)). “Only disputes over facts thaght affect the outcome of the suit under the

governing law will properly preclude the entrysafmmary judgment. Factual disputes thiat

are irrelevant or unnecessary will not be codritéAnderson, 477 U.S. at 248. A factual
dispute is genuine if it “propsarican be resolved in favor of either party.” Id. at 250.
Accordingly, a genuine issue for trial exiftthe non-movant presents evidence from
which a reasonable jury, viewing the evidencéhimlight most favorable to that party,
could resolve the material issue in his or faeor. Id. “If theevidence is merely
colorable, or is not significantly probativ&mmary judgment may be granted.” Id. at 24
50 (internal citations omitted). Only admissibdence may be conged in ruling on a
motion for summary judgmen®Orr v. Bank of Am., 285 Bd 764, 773 (& Cir. 2002).
II. DISCUSSION

A. ADA CLAIM

“Title Il of the ADA prohibits discrimin&on in public accommodations . . . ."
Kohler v. Bed Bath & Beyond of Cal., LLG@B0 F.3d 1260, 1263 (9th Cir. 2015). Under

the ADA, liability for violations of itgprovisions extends to “any person wdwns, leases
(or leases to), avperates a place of public accommodaii.” 42 U.S.C. § 12182(a)
(emphasis added). “To prevail on a discnation claim under Title Ill, a plaintiff must
show that: (1) he is disabl&dthin the meaning of the ADAQ) the defendant is a private
entity that owns, leases, or operates a plagaiblic accommodation; and (3) the plaintiff
was denied public accommodatidngsthe defendant becausehid disability.” Arizona ex
rel. Goddard v. Harkins Amusement Entersc, 18603 F.3d 666, 6709 Cir. 2010); see 42
U.S.C. 8§ 12182(a). “Damages are restaverable under Titl#l of the ADA—only

O-
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injunctive relief is available for violations @itle I1l.” Wander v.Kaus, 304 F.3d 856, 858
(9th Cir. 2002).

1. Operator Liability
An individual may be personally liable forolations of the ADA if he or she is the
“operator” of a place of public accommodatiwhere the discriminatory act occurred.
Lentini v. Cal. Ctr. for the ArtsEscondido, 370 F.3837, 849 (9th Cir. 2004). An operato

Is one who has the ability to facilitate anycassary accommodation. Id. Erik expressly
denies that he has ever had control over the tipesaat the Inn. Price Decl. 11 3, 4. In
response, Plaintiff asserts that Erik’s représigons are contradicted by “[tlhe managers ¢
the hotel [who] gave his name as the persatet with the accessarriers when Plaintiff
was to send someone a letter regarding thetwoolg,” PI.’s Opp’n at 7, and who said that
Erik was the “operator,” id. at 5.

Plaintiff's statement as to what the unitiBaed “managers” tolcher is inadmissible
and unsupported. Because the statement was onh@é court and is offered for the truth
of the matter asserted—i.e.atlErik operates the Inn—it isadmissible hearsay that
cannot be considered in opposing a summatgment motion._See Fed. R. Evid. 801(c)
(definition of hearsay); Orr, 285 F.3d at 7744hsay statements cannot be considered of
summary judgment). The statements cannot be construed as statement of party-oppq
under Federal Rule of Evidence 801(d)(2¢daese Plaintiff cannot identify any of the
declarants. During her deptign, Plaintiff only vaguely redéed that a “staff person” or
“clerk” wrote Erik’'s name on her bill in response to her inquiry regarding whom to cont
about the barriers. Cortes Reply Decl. Ex. Dg®epo.) at 130:7-131:18. Yet, Plaintiff
could not provide the name of the clerk or prowaay description of the individual. Id. In
view of Plaintiff's failure toidentify the clerk, the Courtrids that the proffered statement
IS not admissible. See Breneman v. KewtieCorp., 799 F.2d 470, 473 (9th Cir. 1986)

—
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(lack of evidentiary foundation precludedhaidsion of statement under Federal Rule of
Evidence 801(d)(2)).

Even if the statement were admissibles mot probative of whether Erik may be
held liable under the ADA as an operator. Setting aside Plairtdffrglete inability to
recall any details regarding the identity of émeployee, the record is devoid of any facts
demonstrating the basis for the clerk’s stateméany, that Erik had any operational
authority with respect to the InrEvidence that “is merely tmrable, or is not significantly
probative,” is not sufficient to avoid summauwgdgment._Anderson, 477 U.S. at 252. Theq
Court therefore finds Plaintiff has failed to demstrate a genuine issue of material fact ag
to Erik’'s potential ADA liability as an operator.

2. Owner Liability

Erik contends that he had no ownepsimterest in the Inn at the time it was
constructed and otherwise had no involvememhe design or congtction of any of the
barriers at issue in this case. Price Dgd. He acknowledges having recorded a grant
deed in July 2012, which purportedly madmta joint tenant witliespect to the real
property on which the Inn is located. |d7.f That deed, however, was invalidated as a
result of the lawsuit filed by Lena against Eaikd the subsequent settlerhef the dispute.
Id. 1 9. In December 2014, he signed a quitcld@ad returning to Lena any interest in th

Property that he may have possessed. Id.

4 The Court has serious concerns regaydilaintiff's misrepresentation of the
record. In her gposition, Plaintiffrepeatedly claims that “managergdld her that Erik was
the operator. Opp’'n at5, 7. The cited evide does not support this claim. In her
deposition, Plaintiff stated onthat she spoke to a single “stp#rson” or “clerk.” Cortes
Reply Decl. Ex. D at 130:7-9There is no indication thatithperson—whom Plaintiff was
completely unable to descrilfether than noting that “sheasn’t fat”)—was a manager.
Likewise, Plaintiff's assertion that the dtenrote Erik’'s name down on her receipt IS
suspect. When confronted withe fact that the clerk’s signagy in fact, appeared to have
been written by Plaintiff, she respondé®ou know what? You kaw, they look a lot
alike. Maybe I did write it.” Pl.’s Depo. at 132:7-15. The Caggin reminds Plaintiff
and her counsel of her obligaitis under Federal Rule of @ifProcedure 11 as well as her
ethical obligations to the Court, see Civ. LIR-4. Failure to comyp with the same may
result in the imposition of monetary and/or ateanctions, up to and including dismissal
action.

J7
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Plaintiff contends that Erik’'s claims abn-ownership are untenable in light of an
allegation in his Answer, wherein he pureally “admitted” to bang an owner in his
Answer to the Complaint. Oppat 5. In paragraph 7 oféafComplaint, Plaintiff alleges
that “Defendant ERIC [sic] PRICE is, andadttimes relevant herein, was the owner,
operator, lessor and/or lessee of the Inn.” Aof@. In his Answer, Erik states as
follows: “Responding to paragraph 7 of thengmaint, Mr. Price alleges that he owns a
joint tenant interest in theal property located at 393500 Hwy 1, Gualala, CA 95445,
Except as admitted in the foregoing senteire Price denies each and every allegation in
paragraph 7 of the ComplaintAnswer § 7, Dkt. 12. The Court notes that Erik filed his
Answer on October 11, 2018rior to the resolution dfena’s lawsuit against him
challenging the validity of theegtd. Thus, Erik’s “admission” isow inapposite in light of
the subsequent invalidation of the deed.

Equally meritless is Plaintiff's assertiorathErik’'s ownership interest is shown by
his Rule 68 offer of judgment wherein he ofé to settle the case for $5,000 and to
provide the injunctive relief requested by h@pp’n at 8; Barbosa Decl. { 2 & Ex. 1, Dkt.
51-1. She posits that his settlamheffer is proof that he hagh ownership interest in the
Inn. Erik objects to Plaintiff's counselsgatement regarding thule 68 offer and the
photocopy of such offer which &tached as an exhibit torraeclaration, and requests that

they be stricken. Reply at 8. As Plafihshould undoubtedly be aware, Rule 68(b) clearl

S

states that: “Evidence of amaccepted offer is not admiska except in a proceeding to
determine costs.” Fed. R. Evid. 68(b); see &sd08(a). Since this is not a proceeding to
determine costs, the unaccepted offer of juelginns inadmissible. Erik’s objection is

therefore sustained and the request to strigeasted. That aside, the Rule 68 offer was
made in May 2014, prior to the invalidationtbé grant deed in December 2014. Thus, the

settlement offer is not probative of Erilcsirrent ownership interest in the Inn.

®> Although Erik never formally sought tamend his answer under Rule 15(a)(2), the
Court construes his motion for summary judgtrterinclude an implicit request to amend
his answer to conform toéhevidence. See Coconut Kidgmeowners Ass’n, Inc. v.
Lexington Ins. Co., 649 F. Suppd 1363, 1372 (S.D. Fla. 2009).

-7-
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Finally, even if Erik were an “owner” at the time Plaihtiisited the Inn in 2012, the
fact that he is not eurrent owner is fatal to her ADA claim. A “private plaintiff can sue
only for injunctive relief . . . under the ADA . . . Oliver v. Ralph$rocery Co., 654 F.3d
903, 905 (9th Cir. 2011). As of Decemb@id2, Erik relinquished any ownership in the

Property to Lena. Price Decl. § 9. Plaintiff dowt dispute that fact. Since it is clear that
he is not a present owner of i, Erik is no longer a propgarty to Plaintiff's Title Il

claim. See McLaughlin \Hilton Worldwide, Inc., No14CV0504 WQH NLS, 2015 WL
773703, at *3 (S.D. Cal. Feb. 11, 2015s(dissing Title Il ADA claims against entities

that had had sold their interestthe subject hotel aftereédawsuit was filed); see also

Lonberqg v. Sanborn Theaters Inc., 259 F.3291A036, as amended denial of reh’q and

reh’g en banc, 271 F.3d 953K{Cir. 2001) (holding that aarchitect who violated the
ADA'’s design and construction provisions bull diot have control of the building at the
time of the lawsuit could not Weeld liable for such violations). The Court finds Plaintiff
has failed to demonstrate a genuine issue of material fact as to Erik’s potential ADA
liability as an owne?.

B. STATE LAW CLAIMS

Under California’s Unruh Civil Rights Acall persons are “entitled to the full and
equal accommodations, advantages, facilities, privileges, or services in all business
establishments of every kind whatsoever.”. Cav. Code § 51(b). A violation of the ADA|
automatically establishes a viatat of the Unruh Act._Id. 1(f); Lentini v. Cal. Ctr. for
the Arts, Escondido, 370 F.3d 837, 84#h(€ir. 2004) (“Because the Unruh Act has

adopted the full expanse of the ADA, it mimtow, that the sametandards for liability
apply under both Acts.”). In contrast to Titleof the ADA, a violation of the Unruh Act
may result in the imposition of damageCal. Civ. Code 8§ 51(f).

6 Plaintiff's reliance on Botosan v. Paul Mally Realty, 216 F.3827, 832-33 (9th
Cir. 2000) and Heatherly v. llinkhobby,dn No. 13-CV-03190-JS@015 WL 6828118,
*6 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 6, 2015) is misplace@pp’n at 7-8. Those cases are inapposite, as
they simply recognized that a landlord a who have the power to remove access
barriers are liable under the ADA to remove thewetwithstanding contractual agreement

UJ
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Plaintiff argues that under @i Code 8§ 51(f), Erik is liale for damages “as the past
owner and operator of the subject property fariers encountered by Plaintiff when she
visited the hotel.” Opp’n at 8. She @teo decisional authority in support of this
proposition; nor has the Court, through itsrongsearch, been able to locate any.
Nonetheless, since the same legal standppties to claims under the ADA and 8§ 51(f),
see Lentini, 370 F.3d at 84itwould be incongruous® find that Erik may be held liable
under the Unruh Act when there is no sdsr holding him liable under the ADA.
Consequently, the Court finds that Erik igitéed to summary judgment on Plaintiff's state
law claims’

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above,

IT IS HEREBY ORDEREDITHAT Defendant Erik Rce’s Motion for Summary
Judgment and his request to strike Exhilib the Declaration of Patricia Barbosa are
GRANTED. Page 2 and 3 of Docket Ng2-1 shall be stricdn from the record.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated: 10/11/16
AUNDRA BROWN ARMSTR@NG

Senior United States District Judge

" For the same reasons, Plaintiff's claimder California Health and Safety Code
§ 19955 fails. That section only authorizgisinctive relief and “does not authorize an
action for damages.” D’Lil v. Riverboat Delkdng, Inc., 59 F. Sup®Bd 1001, 1007 (E.D.
Cal. 2014) (internal quatians and citations omitted).
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